I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONING PARTY 

Olympic Tug and Barge, Inc. ("Olympic"), Appellant in the Court 

of Appeals, petitions for review of the decision terminating review 

identified below. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION TO BE REVIEWED 

Olympic seeks review of the Published Opinion ("Decision") 

issued on July 21, 2015. A copy of the Decision is attached as 

Appendix A. Olympic timely moved for reconsideration, which was 

granted in part on August 18, 2015. A copy ofthe Order Granting Motion 

to Reconsider in Part and Amending Opinion in Part is attached in 

Appendix B. 1 

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

This appeal involves RCW 82.04.260(7), the statute that imposes 

the "stevedoring and associated activities" business and occupation (B&O) 

tax? The trial court ruled that Olympic's business did not fall under the 

stevedoring tax and the Court of Appeals affirmed. 

1 All citations to the Decision are to the original Slip Opinion ("Slip. Op."), which is 
reproduced as Appendix A. The Decision is currently reported at_ P.3d _, 2015 
WL 4457660 (Wash. App. Div. 2, July 21, 20 15). The only difference between the 
original and amended Decision is on page 6, where the Court of Appeals removed the 
words "for the first time at oral argument" from footnote 5. No other portion of the 
Decision was amended and the result of the Decision did not change. 

2 The full name of the tax is "stevedoring and associated activities pertinent to the 
movement of goods and commodities in waterborne interstate or foreign commerce." 
RCW 82.04.260(7) states in its entirety as follows: 

Upon every person engaging within this state in the business of stevedoring and 
associated activities pertinent to the movement of goods and commodities in 
waterborne interstate or foreign commerce; as to such persons the amount of tax with 
respect to such business is equal to the gross proceeds derived from such activities 
multiplied by the rate of 0.275 percent. Persons subject to taxation under this 

(Footnote continued next page) 
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The Decision conflicts with decisions of this Court and of the 

Court of Appeals, as described more fully in Sections V.A and V.B of this 

petition. See RAP 13 .4(b )( 1 ), and (2). The Decision also involves a 

significant question of law under the constitutions of the state of 

Washington and the United States, and issues of substantial public interest 

that should be determined by this Court, as described more fully in 

Sections V.C and V.D of this petition. See RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Olympic's Business. 

Olympic operates a fleet of tugboats and barges m Puget Sound 

and has locations within the ports of Seattle and Tacoma. CP 23. 

Olympic's primary business is the transportation of bulk fuel oil products, 

including the "bunkering" of fuel to vessels engaged in the movement of 

subsection are exempt from payment of taxes imposed by chapter 82.16 RCW for that 
portion of their business subject to taxation under this subsection. Stevedoring and 
associated activities pertinent to the conduct of goods and commodities in waterborne 
interstate or foreign commerce are defined as all activities of a labor, service or 
transportation nature whereby cargo may be loaded or unloaded to or from vessels or 
barges, passing over, onto or under a wharf, pier, or similar structure; cargo may be 
moved to a warehouse or similar holding or storage yard or area to await further 
movement in import or export or may move to a consolidation freight station and be 
stuffed, unstuffed, containerized, separated or otherwise segregated or aggregated for 
delivery or loaded on any mode of transportation for delivery to its consignee. 
Specific activities included in this definition are: Wharfage, handling, loading, 
unloading, moving of cargo to a convenient place of delivery to the consignee or a 
convenient place for further movement to export mode; documentation services in 
connection with the receipt, delivery, checking, care, custody and control of cargo 
required in the transfer of cargo; imported automobile handling prior to delivery to 
consignee; terminal stevedoring and incidental vessel services, including but not 
limited to plugging and unplugging refrigerator service to containers, trailers, and 
other refrigerated cargo receptacles, and securing ship hatch covers. 

For an analysis of each sentence in this statute, see Appellant's Opening Brief 16-19 and 
Appellant's Reply Brief 5-18. 
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goods and commodities in waterborne interstate or foreign commerce. CP 

24. "Bunkering" involves using tugboats to transport barges containing 

fuel transloaded from oil refineries and storage facilities to ocean-going 

vessels under anchor or docked at port facilities. !d. Olympic pumps the 

fuel into the vessel's fuel hold or tanks, which are called "bunkers." !d. 

Olympic delivers different types of "bunker" fuels, including 

marine distillate and heavy fuel oils. CP 24. Olympic will load the fuel 

either at a refinery or other storage facility and transport it to the ship. !d. 

The tugboat pulls and maneuvers the barge loaded with the fuel to the side 

of the vessel. !d. The fuel is then transloaded from the barge into the fuel 

tanks (bunkers) of the vessel. !d. Once the fuel is pumped into the ship's 

bunker, Olympic's vessels are removed from the side of the ship. !d. 

Olympic does not own the fuel that it delivers to and pumps into the ships. 

CP 24. Instead, Olympic receives a fee for the service of loading, 

transporting and off-loading the fuel. !d. These services are performed 

while the ocean-going vessels are in port and are being loaded or unloaded 

with cargo. !d. 

How Olympic operates is documented in a sample transaction in 

the record. See CP 52-60.3 In the representative transaction, Olympic was 

3 During discovery the Department asked Olympic to produce copies of every invoice 
related to bunkering services provided to customers during the tax years 2003 to 2008. 
Because those transactions totaled several thousand (see CP 25), Olympic produced two 
representative transactions for each year. See CP 53-60. This limited production was 
made with the understanding that the parties would first resolve the legal question 
whether the bunkering services were properly taxable under the stevedoring 8&0 tax 
classification, as alleged by Olympic, or the PUT, as claimed by the Department. 
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hired by Tesoro Refining and Marketing Company to load, transport, and 

unload fuel for a customer of Tesoro. CP 25, 53. The fuel was loaded at 

"Tesoro Anacortes" (the Tesoro refinery) and delivered to the ship "APL 

Sweden" docked at Terminal 5 in the Port of Seattle ("Seattle P-5"). !d. 

A total of 14,251.3 7 barrels of fuel oil were loaded into the vessel APL 

Sweden. CP 25, 53. There was a 15,000 barrel minimum (at a charge of 

$1.17 per barrel) and the charge to APL Sweden was $17,100.00. !d. A 

"Fuel Transfer Fee" of $80.96 plus a "Fuel Surcharge" of $967.50 brought 

the total oflnvoice No. 12179 to $18,148.46. !d. CP 54-60 provided the 

backup to this transaction, including time and information on the loading 

and discharge of the fuel (CP 54), the name of the tugboat ("Lela Joy") 

and barge ("Bernie 112") involved (CP 55), and the barge logs and bills of 

lading for the loading and discharge of the fuel. See CP 25. During the 

tax years at issue (2003-2008) there were thousands of these types of 

transactions. CP 25. 

B. The Tax Assessments. 

The present action arises out of tax assessments issued by 

Respondent Department of Revenue's for calendar years 2003 through 

2008, in which the Public Utility Tax ("PUT"), RCW 82.16, was 

assessed on Olympic's bunkering revenues. Because the "stevedoring" 

B&O tax is imposed at a lower rate than the PUT, Olympic is seeking a 

refund of the difference between what it has been compelled to pay under 

the PUT, and what Olympic contends it should pay under the stevedoring 
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classification of the B&O tax. See CP 9 (Complaint for Refund of Excise 

Taxes at 6, ~~ 29-30); see also CP 26-51.4 

C. Procedural History. 

Following the filing of Olympic's refund complaint and after a 

period for discovery, Olympic moved for partial summary judgment on 

the legal issue of whether the gross revenues from the activity of 

bunkering fuel was taxable under the PUT or the "stevedoring" B&O tax. 

CP 10-21. The trial court denied Olympic's motion and granted summary 

judgment for the Department. CP 301-303. Olympic timely appealed to 

the Court of Appeals (CP 304), which upheld the Superior Court's ruling 

that Olympic's activities did not fall under the "stevedoring" B&O tax 

classification. Slip Op. 1. 

V. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING REVIEW 

A. ISSUE ONE: The Decision Is Based on an Argument Raised 
For the First Time at Oral Argument, Which Conflicts With 
Decisions of This Court and the Court of Appeals. 

The heart of the Decision is the Court of Appeals' reading of the 

fourth sentence of RCW 82.04.260(7). That sentence lists "specific 

activities" included within the definition of "stevedoring and associated 

activities pertinent to the movement of goods and commodities in 

4 CP 26-51 are excerpts from the tax assessments issued to Olympic by the 
Department. The PUT was assessed by the Department under the "other public service" 
classification at a rate of 1.926 percent. See RCW 82.16.020(1)(t), (2). The stevedoring 
B&O tax is imposed at the rate of .275 percent. RCW 82.04.260(7). See CP 9 
(Complaint at 6, ~~ 29-32). 
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waterborne interstate or foreign commerce. "5 The critical part of this 

sentence is the last phrase: "terminal stevedoring and incidental vessel 

services, including but not limited to plugging and unplugging refrigerator 

service to containers, trailers, and other refrigerated cargo receptacles, and 

securing ship hatch covers." The Court of Appeals' reading of this 

sentence deprives the phrase "incidental vessel services" of any meaning 

independent of the phrase "terminal stevedoring": 

. . . the phrase "incidental vessel services" does not appear in 
isolation; instead, it appears as the phrase "terminal stevedoring 
and incidental vessel services." RCW 82.04.260(7). Because 
"incidental vessel services" is a general term appearing in 
conjunction with the specific term "terminal stevedoring," we 
deem "incidental vessel services" to incorporate only "those things 
similar in nature or 'comparable'" to terminal stevedoring. 
[citation omitted] 

Slip Op. 7-8. 

There IS nothing in the plain language of the portion of the 

sentence that begins "terminal stevedoring and incidental vessel 

services ... " which suggests these two activities must be read together, that 

"the statute's organization shows that 'terminal stevedoring and incidental 

5 This sentence includes the following activities: 

Wharfage, handling, loading, unloading, moving of cargo to a convenient place 
of delivery to the consignee or a convenient place for further movement to 
export mode; documentation services in connection with the receipt, delivery, 
checking, care, custody and control of cargo required in the transfer of cargo; 
imported automobile handling prior to delivery to consignee; terminal 
stevedoring and incidental vessel services, including but not limited to plugging 
and unplugging refrigerator service to containers, trailers, and other refrigerated 
cargo receptacles, and securing ship hatch covers" 

RCW 82.04.260(7), fourth sentence. 
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vessel services' is one category of activities, not two" (Slip Op. 8), or that 

the incidental vessel services that qualify for the "stevedoring" B&O tax 

rate must be similar in nature or comparable to terminal stevedoring. On 

the contrary, the two concepts are clearly independent of one another and 

one has to look no further than the two examples in this fourth sentence to 

confirm this fact. 6 

The first example - "plugging and unplugging refrigerator service 

to containers, trailers, and other refrigerated cargo receptacles" - clearly 

relates to terminal stevedoring because the activity deals with containers. 

See Olympic's Reply Brief at 12-13. But the second example- "securing 

ship hatch covers" - is clearly not "terminal stevedoring" and is just as 

clearly an example of an "incidental vessel service." This is obvious from 

the fact that ship hatch covers are not generally associated with vessels 

carrying containers, where such containers are stacked high upon one 

another both below and above the deck of the ship. See Appendix C for 

photos of ocean-going container ships. There would be little, if any, need 

6 The Court of Appeals claims to have read the phrase "in conjunction with the rest of 
the statutory section[,]" reasoning that because "[t]here is no punctuation between 
'terminal stevedoring' and 'incidental vessel services"' and "semicolons divide the other 
groups of examples from each other" this means "in context, the word 'incidental' 
modifies the phrase 'terminal stevedoring,' rather than simply the term 'vessel."' Slip 
Op. 8 (citing RCW 82.04.260(7)). The court cited no authority for this novel 
interpretation of what these semicolons and commas mean in this sentence. If the 
Legislature truly intended to say what the Court of Appeals claims, why didn't the 
Legislature just write the statute to say "terminal stevedoring and incidental services 
related thereto?" What the Court of Appeals has done, without admitting as much, is to 
rewrite the statute, and the courts of this state are not empowered to rewrite statutes. 
See, e.g., HomeStreet, Inc. v. Dep 't of Revenue, 166 Wn.2d 444, 455, 210 P.3d 297 
(2009). 
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to secure ship hatch covers on these vessels. On the other hand, an ocean-

going vessel that carries bulk commodities - such as grain or cement -

would have a need to secure the ship's hatch covers so the goods carried in 

the bowel of the vessel are not exposed to the weather. See Appendix D 

for photos of bulk commodity carriers. 

The Court of Appeals' conclusion that the "phrase 'terminal 

stevedoring and incidental vessel services' describes stevedoring and 

vessel services incidental to terminal stevedoring" is adopted from an 

argument first raised by the Department at oral argument. At argument, 

the Department contented for the first time that the terms "terminal 

stevedoring and incidental vessel services should be read together" and 

that "vessel services are those incidental to terminal stevedoring." One 

can scour the Department's brief in this appeal and one will find not even 

a hint of this argument, or any variation of it. The Department had never 

previously argued that "incidental vessel services" subject to tax under the 

"stevedoring" classification must be closely associated with, or closely 

related to, "terminal stevedoring," or that the word "incidental," as in the 

term "incidental vessel services," is to be read as modified by the phrase 

"terminal stevedoring." 

This Court has made crystal clear the procedure that must be 

followed by a party if it wishes to raise an issue not addressed in its brief: 

If a party has a meritorious argument, which has not been briefed, 
that is believed to be necessary to the resolution of the case, the 
party may notify the court, and we may consider the issue pursuant 
to RAP 12.1 (b). Here, the defendant, at oral argument, did not 
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inform the court that the issue was not presented by the briefs nor 
did defendant give the court the opportunity to determine if the 
issue should be considered to decide the case. 

State v. Johnson, 119 Wn.2d 167, 171,829 P.2d 1082 (1992) (refusing to 

consider argument not raised in the brief of the party who first raised it at 

oral argument). The requirement is a venerable one, see Dearborn 

Foundry Co. v. Augustine, 5 Wash. 67, 72, 31 P. 327 (1892) (cited in State 

v. Johnson, 119 Wn.2d at 170), has been repeatedly applied by the Court 

of Appeals, see, e.g., Apostol is v. City of Seattle, 101 Wn. App. 300, 306, 

n.11, 3 P.3d 198 (2000) (citing State v. Johnson), and has been codified in 

RAP 12.1(a). 

Here, the Department did exactly what the defendant did in State v. 

Johnson: advanced an argument not set forth in its brief, and without 

notice to the court or Olympic that it was going to do so, as required by 

the plain language of RAP 12.1. Yet the Court of Appeals adopted the 

argument - that the phrase "terminal stevedoring and incidental vessel 

services" really means "vessel services incidental to terminal stevedoring" 

- as its principle and fundamental basis for ruling in the Department's 

favor. This action warrants review because it conflicts with decisions of 

this Court and of the Court of Appeals. See RAP 13 .4(b )(1) and (2). 

B. ISSUE TWO: The Decision is in Conflict With This Court's 
Decision in Dep 't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn. 

In Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C., 146 Wn.2d 1, 

43 P.3d 4 (2002), this Court stated that the "plain meaning" rule of 

statutory interpretation is derived not only "from what the Legislature has 
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said" in the statute "and related statutes which disclose legislative intent 

about the provision in question" but the analysis also includes 

... taking into account the statutory context, basic rules of 
grammar, and any special usages stated by the legislature on the 
face of the statute. So defined, the plain meaning rule requires 
courts to consider legislative purposes or policies appearing on the 
face of the statute as part of the statute's context. In addition, 
background facts of which judicial notice can be taken are 
properly considered as part of the statute's context because 
presumably the legislature also was familiar with them when it 
passed the statute. 

!d. at 11 (quoting 2A Norman J. Singer, Statutes and Statutory 

Construction § 48A: 16, at 809-10 (6th ed. 2000) (extracts from R. Randall 

Kelso & C. Kevin Kelso, Appeals in Federal Courts by Prosecuting 

Entities Other than the United States: The Plain Meaning Rule Revisited, 

33 Hastings L.J. 187,207-08 (1981)) (emphasis added). 

Olympic argued to the Court of Appeals that the context within 

which RCW 82.04.260(7) was enacted in 1979 confirms that the 

Legislature intended for the "stevedoring" B&O tax rate to be applied to 

more activities than just the mere handling of cargo. See Appellant's 

Opening Brief at 12, 14-16. That "context" showed that, as of the year 

1978, the stevedores in Washington had gone from being exempt from 

B&O tax to being subject to B&O tax at the "service" tax rate of one 

percent (1 %) as a result of the United States Supreme Court's decision in 

Dep 't of Revenue v. Ass 'n of Wash. Stevedoring Cos., 435 U.S. 734, 749-

750, 98 S. Ct. 1388, 55 L. Ed. 2d 682 (1978). The Legislature stepped in 

the following year and reduced the stevedores' B&O tax rate from one 
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percent to 0.275 percent. The Legislature did not just reduce the 

stevedores' tax, but went further and also lowered the tax rate to 0.275 

percent for business activities "associated" with stevedoring, including 

"incidental vessel services." And, the Legislature declared in the second 

sentence of RCW 82.04.260(7) that businesses now subject to this new 

classification, and which may have been previously subject to the PUT, 

would no longer be subject to that latter tax (and its often higher tax 

rates). 7 

The Court of Appeals failed to take judicial notice, consistent with 

Campbell & Gwinn, of these facts along with the fact that waterborne 

interstate and foreign commerce has long been a competitive and 

important business in the State of Washington. The court also failed to 

note that water-borne carriers have many options along the West Coast of 

the United States (as well as in Canada and Mexico) to load and unload 

their ships, and they will go to those ports where, all other factors being 

equal, their costs will be lowest. By reducing the tax burden on those 

businesses in Washington performing "stevedoring and associated 

activities" including "incidental vessel services," the Legislature obviously 

expected that the ensuing tax savings would be passed on at least in part to 

these ships, which would in tum attract more carriers to Washington ports 

to off-load and load their vessels. The plain language of the first sentence 

7 At the time RCW 82.04.260(7) was enacted, persons taxable under the PUT paid 
rates that varied from .6 percent to 3.6 percent; the PUT on tugboat businesses was 1.8%. 
Former RCW 82.16.020(5) (Laws of 1971 ex.sess. ch. 299 § 12). 
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in RCW 82.04.260(7), covering persons engaging within this state in the 

business of stevedoring and associated activities pertinent to the 

movement of goods and commodities in waterborne interstate or foreign 

commerce, shows that the Legislature targeted for the lower tax rate 

persons servicing the vessel from the time it arrives, while cargo is being 

loaded and unloaded, and while the vessel is being readied for departure. 

The Legislature obviously concluded that if more ships came to ports in 

Washington it would mean more commerce for this state, more local jobs, 

and (ultimately) more tax dollars flowing to state and local governments. 

In light of these legislative policy objectives, it does not make any 

sense to exclude Olympic's business from the benefit of the lower tax rate, 

which business is directly and intricately connected to the servicing of the

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