RECEIVE	ED
SUPREME C	OURT
STATE OF WAS	HINGTON
Nov 16, 2015, 1	
BY RONALD R. C.	
7 CLERK	r. L
	111
L	

NO. 92265-9

RECEIVED B

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

OLYMPIC TUG & BARGE, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Kelly Owings, WSBA No. 44665 Assistant Attorney General Revenue Division, OID No. 91027 P.O. Box 40123 Olympia, WA 98504-0123 (360) 753-5528

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

IV. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth four limited circumstances where this Court may choose to accept review of a decision by the Court of Appeals. Olympic argues that it meets the requirements for discretionary review under all four of RAP 13.4(b)'s criteria. Olympic is mistaken. This appeal involves a straightforward statutory interpretation issue. Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals correctly resolved this issue to hold that the plain meaning of the "stevedoring and associated activities" statute does not apply to Olympic's fuel bunkering activities. Instead, its fuel delivery income is subject to public utility tax.

A. The Court Of Appeals Decision Is Consistent With Previous Decisions By This Court And The Court Of Appeals.

This Court may accept review of a Court of Appeals decision if the decision conflicts with this Court's prior decisions or a Court of Appeals decision. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). Contrary to Olympic's arguments, the Court of Appeals decision is entirely consistent with previous caselaw.

1. The Court of Appeals properly decided the only issue before it: whether Olympic's fuel bunkering qualifies as "stevedoring and associated activities."

Olympic argues that the "heart" of the Court of Appeals decision is the interpretation of a particular phrase in RCW 82.04.260(7): "terminal stevedoring and incidental vessel services." Pet. at 5. According to Olympic, the Court's interpretation is based upon an argument the Department allegedly advanced for the first time at oral argument. Pet. at 5-9. Thus, Olympic asserts that the Court of Appeals ignored RAP 12.1 and prior caselaw interpreting this rule. Pet. at 8-9. Olympic mischaracterizes the Court of Appeals decision, the Department's arguments, and prior caselaw.

The "heart" of the Court of Appeals decision is not the Court's analysis of a single phrase or clause in RCW 82.04.260(7), but its interpretation of the statute as a whole. The Court of Appeals decision sets forth the language of RCW 82.04.260(7) in its entirety. *Olympic Tug* & *Barge II*, 188 Wn. App. at 953-54. The decision quotes RCW 82.04.260(7)'s specific definition of "stevedoring and associated activities pertinent to the conduct of goods and commodities in waterborne interstate or foreign commerce":

> all activities of a labor, service or transportation nature whereby cargo may be loaded or unloaded to or from vessels or barges, passing over, onto or under a wharf, pier, or similar structure; cargo may be moved to a warehouse or similar holding or storage yard or area to await further movement in import or export or may move to a consolidation freight station and be stuffed, unstuffed, containerized, separated or otherwise segregated or aggregated for delivery or loaded on any mode of transportation for delivery to its consignee.

Id. at 954 (quoting RCW 82.04.260(7)). Based on this language, the Court of Appeals explained that only activities "involving the loading or unloading of cargo over, under, or onto a wharf, pier, or similar structure," fall within the statute. *Id.*¹

The Court of Appeals then included the rest of RCW 82.04.260(7)'s language, which identifies examples of activities that meet the statute's definition for "stevedoring and associated activities":

Specific activities included in this definition are: Wharfage, handling, loading, unloading, moving of cargo to a convenient place of delivery to the consignee or a convenient place for further movement to export mode; documentation services in connection with the receipt, delivery, checking, care, custody and control of cargo required in the transfer of cargo; imported automobile handling prior to delivery to consignee; terminal stevedoring and incidental vessel services, including but not limited to plugging and unplugging refrigerator service to containers, trailers, and other refrigerated cargo receptacles, and securing ship hatch covers.

Id. (quoting RCW 82.04.260(7)).

After examining RCW 82.04.260(7)'s language as a whole, the Court of Appeals concluded that Olympic's fuel bunkering could not meet the statute's definition for "stevedoring and associated activities." *Id.* at 955-56. The Court reached this conclusion based on Olympic's

¹ Because Olympic's activities do not include moving cargo to a warehouse, storage yard, consolidation freight station, etc., the Court of Appeals had no need to address the remaining clauses of the definition.

concession that its fuel bunkering services do not involve loading or unloading fuel over, under, or onto a wharf, pier, or similar structure. *Id.* at 955. Accordingly, the Court held that Olympic's business activities did not fall within RCW 82.04.260(7). *Id.* at 956. This conclusion mirrors the Department's primary argument in its briefing. Resp. Br. at 15-16.

Only after reaching this conclusion did the Court address the final phrase in RCW 82.04.260(7), which includes "terminal stevedoring and incidental vessel services" as an example of "stevedoring and associated activities." *Id.* at 956. The Court of Appeals addressed this phrase in response to Olympic's primary argument that loading fuel into a ship is an "incidental vessel service" because without such fuel, the vessel could not move. *Id.* at 956 (citing App. Br. at 19-20). In rejecting Olympic's argument, the Court of Appeals simply explained that "incidental vessel services" must be read in conjunction with "terminal stevedoring," and in the context of the statute's definition for "stevedoring and associated activities." *Id.* at 956-58. Otherwise, the Court concluded, Olympic's interpretation would broaden the exemption to include any service incidental to waterborne commerce. *Id.* at 958.

Olympic claims that the Court of Appeals' interpretation of "terminal stevedoring and incidental vessel services" is inconsistent with the examples that RCW 82.04.260(7) provides of such activities. Pet. at 6-

8. Specifically, Olympic asserts that the statute's example of "securing ship hatch covers" would not qualify as "terminal stevedoring and incidental vessel services" because ship hatch covers are allegedly "not associated with vessels carrying containers." Pet. at 7. But there is nothing in the record to support Olympic's allegations, and Olympic cites no authority for this proposition. Recognizing this, Olympic has attached photographs as appendices to its petition that it claims demonstrate "securing ship hatch covers" is not required for "terminal stevedoring." Because these photographs appear nowhere in the record, they should not be considered. *See* RAP 10.3(a)(8) (generally prohibiting an appendix from containing materials outside of the record without the appellate court's permission). Instead, this Court should reject Olympic's attempts to make its case by referring to factual matters outside the record.

The Court of Appeals' interpretation of "terminal stevedoring and incidental vessel services," also does not, as Olympic suggests, create any conflict with RAP 12.1 or the caselaw interpreting that rule. RAP 12.1(a) requires appellate courts to decide cases on the basis of the issues briefed by the parties. Applying RAP 12.1, appellate courts have refused to consider issues that a litigant has raised for the first time at oral argument without notifying the court or addressing in its brief. *See, e.g., State v. Johnson*, 119 Wn.2d 167, 170-71, 829 P.2d 1082 (1992) (refusing to

consider argument raised at oral argument that statute was unconstitutionally vague when only issue in brief related to interpretation of the statute).

There is no RAP 12.1 problem in this case. The Court decided the only issue that Olympic properly raised in its appeal: how to interpret RCW 82.04.260(7) and apply it to Olympic's business.² The Department thoroughly briefed this issue, primarily arguing that reading RCW 82.04.260(7) as a whole demonstrates that the statute only applies to loading and unloading cargo, and activities directly involving loading and unloading cargo. Resp. Br. at 17-18.

During oral argument, the Court specifically asked the Department whether it should be focusing upon the term "incidental vessel services." Oral Argument, *Olympic Tug & Barge, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, at 14:16-14:23 (May 22, 2015). In response, the Department explained that "incidental vessel services" must be read together with "terminal stevedoring" as a single phrase in RCW 82.04.260(7). *Id.* at 14:24-47. This response provided the same approach for interpreting RCW 82.04.260(7) that the Department advocated for in its brief: examining the

² Olympic's opening brief listed 10 assignments of error to the trial court's decision. App. Br. at 1-2. Nine of these related to the trial court interpretations of the law. App. Br. at 1-2. As the Court of Appeals explained, however, most of these assignments of error were not relevant because the Court reviews whether the trial court properly denied summary judgment to Olympic and granted summary judgment to the Department de novo. *Olympic Tug & Barge II*, 188 Wn. App. at 952 n.3.

statute in its entirety, instead of emphasizing a single word or phrase. In contrast, the cases on which Olympic relies in its petition involve a party raising an entirely new issue for the first time at oral argument. *Johnson*, 119 Wn.2d at 170-71 (raising constitutional issue for first time at oral argument). Accordingly, the Court of Appeals decision complies with RAP 12.1 and related case law.

2. The Court of Appeals decision followed this Court's guidance for interpreting statutes according to their plain meaning.

Olympic further argues that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the rules for statutory interpretation that this Court delineated in *Department of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C.*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). Pet. at 9-13. This argument does not provide a basis for this Court's review. In addition, Olympic misunderstands the plain meaning analysis for interpreting statutes that this Court has adopted.

It is questionable whether Olympic's disagreement with how the Court of Appeals applied the plain meaning standards in *Campbell & Gwinn* qualifies as the type of conflict contemplated by RAP 13.4(b)(1). Courts and commentators have long recognized that rules of interpretation and construction "are not rules of positive law, unless expressly provided by statute." Henry Campbell Black, *Handbook on the Construction and Interpretation of the Laws* § 3, at 9 (2d ed. 1911); *see also Johnson v.*

Continental West, Inc., 99 Wn.2d 555, 559, 663 P.2d 482 (1983) (rules of statutory construction "are rules in aid of construing legislation" and "are not statements of law").

Even if a statutory interpretation guideline could provide the basis for finding a conflict, the Court of Appeals decision discussed and applied the proper standard for interpreting a statute. *Olympic Tug & Barge II*, 188 Wn. App. at 952-953 ("We endeavor to effectuate the legislature's intent by applying the statute's plain meaning, considering the relevant statutory text, its context, and statutory scheme.") (internal quotations omitted). As described above, the Court of Appeals examined the "stevedoring and associated activities" statute in its entirety. *Id.* at 953-958. It also considered the context and statutory scheme by examining the language of the related public utility tax statute. *Id.* at 953, 958. After conducting this analysis, the Court concluded that Olympic's fuel bunkering did not fall within the plain meaning of the stevedoring statute. *Id.* at 958.

Despite this full examination of the statute, Olympic complains that the Court did not follow a proper plain meaning analysis of RCW 82.04.260(7). Pet. at 13. Ironically, however, it is Olympic that fails to apply *Campbell & Gwinn's* standards for statutory interpretation. Rather than considering RCW 82.04.260(7)'s language, context, and statutory

scheme as a whole, Olympic has chosen to focus on a single phrase in the statute to make its case: "incidental vessel services." By doing so, Olympic ignores the majority of RCW 82.04.260(7)'s language.

Still, Olympic insists that the Court of Appeals failed to conduct a proper plain meaning analysis because it did not take judicial notice of essential background facts. Pet. at 13. Olympic, however, does not state any facts "capable of accurate and ready determination." See Campbell & Gwinn, 146 Wn.2d at 11; ER 201(b) (court may take judicial notice of a fact that is generally known within a court's jurisdiction or is "capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned"). Instead, Olympic's petition merely describes RCW 82.04.260(7)'s legislative history and the competition Washington ports historically faced. Pet. at 10-12. It then relies on these alleged facts to explain what activities the Legislature intended the definition of "stevedoring and associated activities" to include. Pet. at 10-13. But Olympic's own explanation of why the Legislature chose to pass RCW 82.04.260(7) is not a background fact of which the Court of Appeals can take judicial notice.

Even if it were, Olympic's explanation is not at all helpful in determining what the Legislature intended to include within the definition of "stevedoring and associated activities." The mere fact that the

Legislature may have intended for the lower "stevedoring and associated activities" tax rate to attract more business to Washington ports does not provide any insight as to the scope of activities that the Legislature intended to include within this preferential rate. Thus, the Court properly rejected Olympic's reference to these alleged facts as legislative history that it would not consider in a plain meaning analysis. *Olympic Tug & Barge, Inc. II*, 188 Wn. App. 955 n.6. The Court of Appeals properly interpreted RCW 82.04.260(7) according to its plain language, and this interpretation does not conflict with any decisions by this Court or the Court of Appeals.

B. The Court Of Appeals' Interpretation Of RCW 82.04.260(7) Does Not Create Any Constitutional Concerns.

Olympic argues that this case merits review because the Court of Appeals' interpretation of RCW 82.04.260(7) raises "a significant equal protection issue under both the state and federal constitutions." Pet. at 13-14; *see* RAP 13.4(b)(3). Olympic misinterprets the decision of the Court of Appeals to create a constitutional question that does not exist.

In its decision, the Court of Appeals explained that to fall within RCW 82.04.260(7)'s definition for "stevedoring and associated activities," the activity must involve "the loading or unloading of cargo over, under, or onto a wharf, pier, or similar structure." *Olympic Tug & Barge II*, 188

Wn. App. at 954. Because Olympic admitted that it did not load fuel onto vessels by passing the fuel over, under, or onto a wharf or other structure, the Court concluded Olympic's fuel bunkering could not meet this definition. *Id.* at 955-56. Thus, according to the Court, activities involving "passing over, onto, or under" various structures is a necessary condition to qualify for the stevedoring rate. *See id.* at 955-58.

Olympic claims that the Court of Appeals' interpretation of RCW 82.04.260(7) results in fuel bunkering being treated differently under the statute depending upon whether the fuel is loaded from the dockside or waterside. Pet. at 14. According to Olympic, this creates a privileges and immunities, and equal protection problem.³ But Olympic's argument confuses what the Court of Appeals decided by treating a necessary condition as a sufficient condition.

Contrary to Olympic's assertions, the Court's conclusion does not mean that merely loading fuel over, onto, or under various structures is sufficient to qualify for the "stevedoring and associated activities" definition. To make this argument, Olympic relies on a single sentence in

³ The Equal Protection Clause in the United States Constitution provides that a state shall not "deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws." U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1. Similarly, the Privileges and Immunities Clause in the Washington Constitution provides that "[n]o law shall be passed granting to any citizen, class of citizens, or corporation other than municipal, privileges or immunities which upon the same terms shall not equally belong to all citizens, or corporations." Const. art. I, § 12. This Court has interpreted the Privileges and Immunities Clause to ensure the same level of protection as the federal Equal Protection Clause. *City of Seattle v. Rogers Clothing for Men, Inc.*, 114 Wn.2d 213, 233, 787 P.2d 39 (1990).

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